
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Policy Overview 
Committee

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor J Burrell Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P F Coleman Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor R M Currans Councillor D Page
Councillor B Garden Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor R J Wells
Councillor R Lees

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 11 December 2018

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 11 December 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 11 September 2018 (Pages 1 - 8)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 9 - 12)
To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 November 2018 to 31 March 2019.

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 11 September 2018 (Pages 13 - 16)

SD (IS)

To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 11 September 2018.

8. Presentation from Relate Medway & North Kent 
This item (re-scheduled from POC on 11 September 2018) is 
included in the Agenda subject to final confirmation from Relate.

9. Kent Public Health Service 
To receive an update from Andrew Scott-Clark, Director of Public 
Health KCC, regarding ongoing and planned public health initiatives 
and links with district councils and other partners.

10. Dartford Preventative Health Projects - Annual Report 2017/18 
(Pages 17 - 42)
This report and Appendices updates the Committee regarding 
progress made on Dartford Preventative Health Projects, as 



measured against the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities 
Action Plan for the 2017/18 financial year, as set out in Appendix A to 
the report.

11. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report, Quarter 2 of 2018/19 Municipal Year (Pages 
43 - 62)
This report updates Members on the progress made with meeting the 
key actions and performance indicators for the Corporate Plan, in the 
second quarter of the 2018/19 municipal cycle, as set out in 
Appendices A and B.

12. Policy Overview Committee Work Plan (Pages 63 - 66)
This report and Appendix A sets out the Committee’s current rolling 
Work Plan.



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 11 
September 2018 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor J Jones
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor R Lees
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor S H Brown
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor D Page
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Trish Chapman – Dartford Borough Resident’s Forum 

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services)

Colin Alden – Senior Environmental Health Officer

15. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S H Brown, J Burrell, 
Mrs. D Page and A S Sandhu MBE.

The Chairman welcomed Members and Officers to the meeting together with 
Mrs Patricia Chapman, Dartford Tenants’ & Leaseholder’ Forum 
representative.
 

16. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest made.

17. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 12 JUNE 2018 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

2

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 12 June 
2018 be confirmed as accurate.

18. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman confirmed that he had to items of urgency to bring to Members 
attention.

19. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees for Members to consider.

20. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 10 August 
2018 to 31 December 2018 be noted.

21. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 12 JUNE 2018 

The standard update report from the Committee Clerk asked Members to note 
the list of Action Points arising from the previous meeting of the Committee 
held on 12 June 2018.

Members were advised of the following further developments and proposed 
action:

Item 1 Health Funding 

The Strategic Director (External Services) informed Members that following 
discussions with Mike Gilbert at DGS CCG, it was suggested that the 
Committee would not write a further letter to the Minister in support of a 
funding increase for the CCG and the NHS Trust at this stage, but assess the 
case for increased funding for the CCG and Trust logically, through the 
Council’s review process of the current Local Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(LIDP). 

As part of that review, the Council would consult the CCG, NHS Trust and the 
GP Federation (given the pressure on Dartford GP resources) on their future 
need under the revised LIDP, before making a further bid for increased 
funding to NHS England based on the needs identified in the review. The 
review process was expected to take some 6-9 months commencing with the 
necessary data gathering exercise.  As a long-standing Committee item, the 
outcome of this research would be reported back to the POC.

Item 2: Charing for GP Referral Letters



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

3

The Vice-Chairman advised that the surgery in question, in isolation, 
continued to charge for non-clinical referral letters despite her 
representations. She would continue her dialogue with the surgery and other 
Members also undertook to speak to the surgery manager on the issue and 
report back.

Item 3: Presentation from the Chairman of Relate Medway & North Kent

The Chairman advised that Dan McDonald had been unable to address 
Members that evening due to other pressing diary commitments. A further 
invitation would be issued to Relate to attend POC and address Members in 
December 2018.

Item4: Local Community Pharmacy Services 

Members noted a written response from the DGS CCG concerning the points 
raised by John O’Sullivan (Kent Local Pharmaceutical Committee) in his 
presentation to the Committee on 12 June 2018.

Whilst noting the CCG response to the points raised by KLPC, some 
Members expressed their continued concern that whilst many non-
prescription items were available cheaply over the counter, many residents 
were still paying excessively for other non-prescription items.

Item 5: Welfare Reform Update

Members noted the proposal by the Strategic Director (Internal Services) that 
the next Welfare Reform Update be taken in December 2018 and that the 
Work Plan had been amended to reflect the proposal.

Item 6: Presentation by Virgin Care

Members were advised that it had not been possible to contact Virgin Care in 
the required time-frame for a presentation that evening. It was now proposed 
that Virgin Care attend POC in March 2019; together with representatives of 
the DGS CCG and the NHS Trust, to enable Members to be briefed on all the 
health care services available to Dartford residents. The Work Plan would be 
updated accordingly.

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of Action Points arising from the Committee’s meeting on 
12 June 2018 be noted, together with the further action agreed by 
Members on 11 September 2018.

 

22. RELATE 

In the absence of a Relate representative, this item was rescheduled for the 
Committee’s meeting on 11 December 2018 [Min. No. 21 – Item 3 refers].  



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

4

23. VIRGIN CARE 

In the absence of a Virgin Care representative, this Item was re-scheduled for 
March 2019 [Min. No. 21 – Item 6 refers].

24. AIR QUALITY ANNUAL STATUS REPORT 2018 

The covering report from the Council’s Scientific Officer provided Members 
with information on pollution levels across the Borough, and within the 4 (four) 
declared Air Quality Management Areas, together with an update on the 
Council’s Air Quality Action Plan. 

The Council’s 2018 Air Quality Status Report (ASR) was attached at Appendix 
A to the report, in fulfilment of Part IV of the Environment Act 1995, Local Air 
Quality Management.

The Council’s Senior Environmental Health Officer (SEHO) referred the 
Committee to paras 3.1 to 3.8 of the covering report [agenda pages 25/26] 
regarding measures to tackle roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations, and 
highlighted the following key points:

 Previous discussion at POC had centred on DEFRA’s published Plan 
for tackling roadside NO2 concentrations, and discrepancies within 
the  Plan’s predicted/modelled data used to assess those authorities 
failing to meet national objectives, and the Council’s own 
measurements to measure roadside NO2 concentrations. Whilst the 
Council’s data did not tally with DEFRA’s it remained valid and the 
Council continued to have duties to mitigate against poor air quality 
under the Local Air Quality Management regime;

 As a result of the divergence in data between DEFRA’s UK Plan and 
the Council’s data the Council was not compelled to either implement 
a Clean Air Zone or undertake a scoping exercise, and the money 
ring-fenced by DEFRA for such measures was not therefore available 
to the Council to undertake such work independently, if it chose to do 
so;

 The UK Plan had been challenged by Client Earth in the High Court in 
February 2018 on a number of issues, including the validity of the 
methodology used by DEFRA to generate results, but the High Court 
had ruled that DEFRA’s methodology was compliant with EU 
requirements;

 In essence, the High Court ruling meant that DEFRA’s methodology for 
measuring roadside concentrations of NO2 emissions could not be 
compared with the Council’s on a like for like basis (comparing apples 
with pears principle), that Dartford’s exclusion from the UK Plan could 
be justified by DEFRA and that it would be fruitless for the Council to 
challenge this point further.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

5

The SEHO gave the following summary in regard of the 2018 Annual Status 
Report (ASR) – Appendix A to the report;

 The ASR was a DEFRA requirement from all local authorities and 
presented the results of the Council’s air quality monitoring undertaken 
in 2017;

 The overall headline from the ASR was that air quality was improving 
across the Borough in line with national trends and improvements in 
other Districts.

He made the following detailed comments with regard to:

Air Quality Monitoring Stations

The Council currently operated three real time Air Quality Stations [Appendix 
D agenda p. 81] located at: 

 Dartford Town Centre
 Bean Interchange
 St Clements Roundabout

 Page 21 of the ASR  [agenda p. 55] showed the NO2 Annual Mean 
Concentration (ug/m3) from each of the three sites; 

 In 2017 exceedances of the national objective level for NO2 emissions 
were monitored at St Clements Roundabout and the Bean Interchange 
whilst the Town Centre remained below the objective level (since 
2015);

 Measured NO2 levels at all three sites have subsequently fallen, with 
the St Clements Roundabout AM Station temporarily closed due to 
KCC road works;

 Page 37 of the ASR [agenda p. 71] recorded the number of times the 1 
hour mean NO2 objective of 200ug/m3 was exceeded. Again 
exceedances at the Bean Interchange (10) and St Clements (14) were 
worse than the Town Centre (0) – the objective level for exceedances 
was no more than 18 of the hourly mean in any year.

Diffusion Tubes  

 Diffusion tubes were used by the Council to passively monitor NO2 
levels on a monthly basis in 52 locations throughout the District [see 
maps pages 48-52];

 At the end of each month the results from each tube were averaged 
and bias adjusted against the real time analysers to produce a result 
for each monitoring location with the results set out in Table A3 [pages 
21-25 of the ASR];



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

6

 Members were asked to note an error for DA14 Bow Arrow Lane (M25) 
[p.22] - final column figure should read 57.1 rather than 68 (ug/m3) 
with 57.1 also inserted into the table on p.3 of the report, rather than 
‘needs annualised’;

 A second error appeared on p. 24 - DA75 Ightham Cottages 
(Telegraph) – final column should read 38.4 rather than 45.8;

 At all locations NO2 levels had fallen with 1 exception at DA14 (Bow 
Arrow Lane). Only 6 rather than 12 exposures had been possible at 
DA14 owing to the accidental removal of a real time analyser by KCC 
Highways Dept. undertaking roadworks. Members were also asked to 
note that pollution levels across the District were lower during the 
months that DA14 was not tested, which may have contributed to the 
higher average level of NO2 pollution recorded at Bow Arrow Lane;

 A number of diffusion tube locations had fallen below the objective 
level (no more than 18 exceedances of the hourly mean per year). 
Should this falling trend continue for a 3 year period, the validity of the 
existing Air Quality Management Areas might need to be reconsidered 
at the following locations: DA14, DA22, and DA24 measuring the 
A282; DA16 at the VW garage Princes Road; DA43 traffic lights 
bottom of East Hill; DA50 – A2/Bridge on Church Lane going to 
Wilmington; DA62 Brent/London Road, Shell Petrol Station; DA92 
Pilgrims Road/London Road at George & Dragon Junction near 
Swanscombe; DA93 Snowden Hill/London Road bottom of Galley Hill 
Rd; DA96 The Bridge (Marsh Street) near Bob Dunn Way.

Action Plan

Members were advised that progress on the majority of the actions in the 
current Action Plan [Table 2.2 on p.7 of the ASR] was complete, and Officers 
were now working to develop a new Action Plan (AP). Part of the process 
towards formulating a new AP was to undertake a source apportionment 
exercise for pollution within each of the Council’s AQMAs. 

Initial findings were detailed in para 3.16 of the covering report [agenda p.27] 
which indicated that diesel cars currently represented 33% of NO2 emissions 
within the Town Centre, diesel LGVs 26% and buses and coaches 28.6%. 
Once source apportionment was complete, Officers would need to determine 
actions to target those sources and an internal Working Group had been set 
up comprising Officers from Environmental Health, Transport Planning and 
Development Control. An early focus was to draft guidance for developers in 
respect of the provision of electric vehicle charging points.

Officers were also working closely with Kent County Council on the 
formulation of a wide-ranging Energy and Low Emissions Strategy aimed at 
the reduction of harmful emissions which contributed to climate change and 
poor air quality. The Strategy, at the final edit stage with KCC, represented a 
positive step in recognising the challenge of poor air quality. It was 
encouraging to note that KCC who have the greater control of the road 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

7

network system, were showing increased interest in improving Air Quality, and 
that funding had been identified for measures to alleviate poor air quality in 
parts of the strategic road network. 

The Chairman thanked the SEHO for presenting the covering report and 2018 
ASR and invited questions from Members. 

The following principal points were confirmed by the Strategic Director 
(External Services) and the SEHO in the absence of the Scientific Officer: 

 Funding: the SD(ES) advised that Government had proposed a 
National Scheme (under DEFRA auspices) to address air quality in the 
UK. Dartford was not part of the DEFRA Plan and did not therefore 
qualify for Government funding to address its perceived air quality 
concerns. However, the Government might also advocate the adoption 
of Local Schemes, similar to that successfully delivered within 
Sevenoaks’ Council area. Dartford was investigating whether a local air 
quality scheme could be financed through Neighbourhood CIL 
(Community Infrastructure Levy) funding, but this was problematical as 
air quality control was not strictly speaking infrastructure, and the 
Neighbourhood CIL funding scheme had yet to be established. In 
response to a follow-up question, she advised that lobbying 
Government for 1% of the Dartford Tunnel toll revenue had been 
mooted many times before, and was not up for discussion by 
Government;

 Implementation of New Air Quality Plan (NAQP): this was not yet 
known but would be advised to Members as an ‘action point’ for the 
Council’s Scientific Officer;

 Adoption of the Mayor of London’s diesel scrappage scheme and 
imposition of a diesel car ban in the Town Centre, were further possible 
measures for consideration by the Scientific Officer under the NAQP 
[further ‘action point’];

 Diffusion Tube: placement was governed by DEFRA guidance. If 
placed lower and made more visible e.g. to avoid accidental removal 
by KCC Road Works crews [St Clements Way], the likelihood was that 
tubes would be vandalised or stolen;

 Data for St Clements Roundabout had been impacted by the removal 
of the lamppost housing the diffusion tube, but KCC’s ‘Acoustic Fence’ 
at the Junction would help to mitigate against roadside NO2 
concentrations.

The Chairman thanked Officers for an excellent report and presentation and 
the Strategic Director (External Services) for clarifying the position re possible 
future financing initiatives, in the absence of dedicated Government funding.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

8

25. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

The Chairman noted that the standard report noting progress on the latest set 
of Corporate Plan Key Actions and Performance Indicators for Quarter 1 of 
2018/19 had been noted by CAP B the previous week without comment.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the report and the detail set out in 
Appendices A and B respectively.

 

26. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ROLLING WORK PLAN 2018-19 

The report set out the Committee’s rolling Work Plan for the period September 
2018 to March 2019 as recorded in the attached Appendix A. The report also 
listed (para 3.6) additional work areas for consideration by the Committee yet 
to be scheduled. 

The Chairman confirmed the following amendments/additions to the published 
Work Plan as agreed by Members during the consideration of earlier agenda 
items:

 Renewed invitation to Mr Dan McDonald, Chair of RELATE (Medway 
and North Kent) to brief the Committee on the organisation’s work with 
Dartford residents (first mooted for September 2018) – December 
2018;

 Invitation to Virgin Care to address the Committee on their service 
provision to Dartford NHS Trust (first mooted for September 2018) – to 
be re-scheduled for March 2019 to co-ordinate attendance with DGS 
CCG and NHS Trust representatives. 

RESOLVED:

1. That the published Work Plan at Appendix A to the report, together with 
the additions/amendments Minuted above, be noted;

2. That Appendix A to the Work Plan record 4 (four) quarters of proposed 
activity. 

The meeting closed at 7.58 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN



15 November 2018 - 31 March 2019 
 

1 of 3 

 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE 
 
This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly. 
 
All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively. 
 
Cabinet Members: 
 
Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy 
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre 
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development 
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing 
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure 
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage 
 
All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk. 
 
This notice supersedes all previous notices. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

2 of 3 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Local Scheme of Council Tax 
Support 2019/20 
 
To agree a Local Scheme of Council 
Tax Support for 2019/20 to 
recommend to the General 
Assembly of the Council. 
 

Cabinet 
6 Dec 2018 
 

Consultation on the 
proposed scheme will 
be carried out with 
existing claimants, 
Council Tax payers and 
relevant stakeholders 
via the Council’s web 
site. 

 
 

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) 
Tel: 01322 343632 
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Community Infrastructure Levy: 
Governance and Spending Review 
2018 
 

  
 

Cabinet 
6 Dec 2018 
 

Consultation is to be 
undertaken with key 
infrastructure providers 
and the Leader’s 
Advisory Group on CIL 
prior to the decision by 
Cabinet. 

 
 

Tania Smith, Policy Planner 
Tel: 01322 343103 
tania.smith@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2019/20 
 
To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2019/20, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2019/20, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2019/20, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2019/20 and to determine sundry 
related matters.  
 

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget) 
25 Feb 2019 
 

Budget consultation with 
residents and 
businesses – December 
to January – mainly via 
website. 

 
 

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager 
Tel: 01322 343148 
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 



 

3 of 3 
 

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED 

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM 

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW 

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS 

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR 

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified) 

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes 
 

   
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2019 
 

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet. 

 
 

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services 
Tel: 01322 343634 
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk 

OPEN 

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs 
 
To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations. 
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2019 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01732 227041 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates 
 
To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable. 
 

Cabinet 
7 Mar 2019 
 

  
 

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager 
Tel: 01732 227041 
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended) 

 
 

     



T
his page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2018

1. Summary

1.1  To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
11 September 2018 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the 
next meeting for more detailed discussion.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 11 
September 2018 be noted, and that Members consider whether any item 
requires a report to be submitted to the next or subsequent meetings of the 
Committee, for more detailed discussion.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. List of Action Points

No. Item Responsible Officer
1 Health Funding: At their meeting on 11 September 

2018 Members agreed the recommendation from the 
Strategic Director (External Services) following her 
discussions with Mike Gilbert (DGS CCG); that rather 
than write a further letter to the Minister; the case for 
increased funding for the CCG and Trust would be 
assessed logically, through the Council’s review 
process for the current Local Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan [Min. No. 21:1 refers]. 

Sheri Green

2 Charging for GP Referral Letters: Also on 11 
September, Members received a further update from 
the Vice-Chairman [and a Ward Member], regarding a 
GP Practice who continued to charge patients for 
all/any referral letters, and a second Practice who 
charged for non-clinical referrals. The Vice-Chairman 
undertook to maintain her representations to the 
Managers of both Practices, and update Members 
further in December 2018. 

Vice-Chairman

3 RELATE Medway & North Kent: Following his 
unavailability for POC on 11 September 2018 (Min. 
Nos. 21:3 and 22 refer) Members were informed that a 
further invitation had been sent to Dan McDonald 
asking him [or a representative] to address Members 
on 11 December 2018 regarding Relate’s operation in 
Dartford and the Work Plan updated to this effect. A 
response from Dan McDonald remains outstanding, 
but the item has been retained in the agenda for 11 
December 2018 subject to final confirmation from 
Relate in due course. 

David Hook



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

4 Local Community Pharmacy Services: Also on 11 
September, Members received a written response 
from the DGS CCG, regarding the points raised by 
John O’Sullivan, Kent Local Pharmaceutical 
Committee in his earlier presentation to Members on 
12 June 2018. 

David Hook

5 Welfare Reform Update: At their meeting on 11 
September, Members agreed the recommendation 
from the Strategic Director (Internal Services) that the 
proposed update report to the Committee on Welfare 
Reform be deferred until December 2018 [Min. No. 
21:5 refers]. 

In the event, the roll-out of full Universal Credit across 
all of Dartford was not completed until 25 October 
2018. The SD (IS) and the Benefit Manager have 
therefore recommended a further deferment until June 
2019; to enable Officers to better assess the impact of 
the roll-out of full Universal Credit across the Borough 
over a longer period, and update Members 
accordingly.

The Committee’s Work Plan has been amended to 
reflect this proposal. 

Sarah Martin

6 Presentation by Virgin Care: Members were advised 
on 11 September that the proposed presentation by 
Virgin Care had been re-scheduled for March 2019 
[Min. Nos. 21 & 23 refer] to attend and advise 
Members of that company’s contribution to the overall 
care provision arrangements for Dartford and its 
residents.

An invitation has been sent to Virgin Care on behalf of 
the Chairman to attend POC on that basis and the 
Work Plan updated.

David Hook

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrates improvement.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

11 September Agenda 
and Minutes

David Hook
(01322) 343330

Democratic  
Services - 
Strategic Director 
(Internal)

N/A





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL 
REPORT 2017/18

1. Summary

1.1 To update the Committee on the progress on the Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects, against the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities Action Plan, for 
the financial year 2017/18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee note the outcomes and progress made on the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects for the financial year 2017/18.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Borough councils have a vital role to play in contributing to reducing 
health inequalities and improving the health and wellbeing of its 
residents. Functions such as planning, housing, environmental health, 
leisure and community safety all have an impact on the health and 
wellbeing of local residents.

3.2. Members will recall that the new three year Dartford Health Inequalities 
Action Plan (2015-2018) was agreed and adopted by this Committee 
on 15 December 2015.  Local priorities were developed by the Dartford 
Health Inequalities Group partners to deliver against targeted actions to 
meet local needs.  The preventative health projects delivered by this 
Council form part of this Action Plan

3.3. Dartford Borough Council has been commissioned by Kent Public 
Health since 2008 to deliver a range of preventative health projects as 
part of a continuing annual Service Level Agreement.  This work is 
monitored quarterly through outcome monitoring submissions to Kent 
County Council.  The projects include healthy weight programmes and 
the promotion of mental wellbeing and community cohesion.  

3.4. A summary of the preventative health project outcomes achieved in 
2017/18 can be found in the Progress Report at Appendix A. Evidence 
and case studies can be found at Appendix B. These outcomes relate 
to the priorities identified within the Dartford Health Inequalities Action 
Plan. 

3.5. The Health Inequalities Action Plan sets out six overarching objectives 
to reduce health inequalities across the Borough.  The local priorities 
identified under each objective are:

 Promote Healthy Weight for Children;

 Support older people to keep them safe, independent and living 
fulfilled lives;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

 Support businesses to have healthy workplaces;

 Provide the right support at the right time including financial and 
debt support; 

 Develop our communities to be healthy places;

 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradients.

3.6 The Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan (2015-2018) was 
developed to support, at local level, the Kent Health Inequalities 
Strategy. That Strategy has since been subsumed into the Kent Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy and work is on-going to ensure that the 
Strategy is aligned with the emerging Kent and Medway Sustainable 
Transformation Partnership/Plan (STP). 

3.7 STPs across the country are charged with finding practical ways to 
improve NHS services and population health in every part of England. 
They aim to help meet a ‘triple challenge’ set out in the NHS Five Year 
Forward View of better health, transformed quality of care delivery, and 
sustainable finances.

3.8 Although the Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan has reached the 
end of its three year timeframe, Kent Public Health will continue to fund 
delivery against the local priorities identified within it until March 2019.

3.9 Both the Kent Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Kent and 
Medway STP have a strong preventative focus and over the coming 
months, the Dartford Health Inequalities Group will be considering how 
best to use this focus to improve health outcomes for Dartford 
residents. Any new Action Plan will be presented to this Committee 
together with the 2018/19 Annual Report.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a corporate theme in the Plan.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications In 2017/18 the Council received £111,258.00 of 
Public Health funding to deliver preventative 
health work in the borough from Kent County 
Council.  An additional amount of £9,000 was 
received to deliver Workplace Health initiatives.
A 3% in-year budget saving was required by Kent 
Public Health for 2017/2018, leaving a total 
annual budget of £111,258.00 for 2017/2018 
financial year in comparison to £114,580 for the 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

2016/17 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications The Dartford Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator post 
is funded by Kent Public Health through the Kent 
annual SLA budget.

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Inability to deliver against the service 
specifications set by Kent Public Health could 
result in the loss of budget and the termination of 
one or more of the funded projects.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan progress report 
(2017/18)

8.       Appendix B – Evidence and Case Studies

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dartford Health Inequalities 
Action Plan (2015-2018)

POC 
11/12/17

Hayley Brooks
(01732) 227272

Communities & 
Business Team 
(Sevenoaks District 
Council – shared 
service)

N/A





APPENDIX A

Page 1 of 16

Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan Progress Report (2017/18)

DartfordOBJECTIVES DETAIL

Local Priority: Promote Healthy Weight for Children
Actions:  Support families to maintain a healthy weight.

 Improve local healthy weight care pathways.
 Maximise opportunities with health visiting teams.

Progress: The Don’t Sit, Get Fit (DSGF) Family Weight Management Programme
Dartford Borough Council have successfully ran 2 programmes each term and have ran this 
programme with the stipulation being that children must be accompanied with a parent.
 Dynamo club – Family Weight Management programme ran at Fairfield Leisure Centre.
 Summer Sizzler programme, Free physical activity sports interactive programme 

engaging families ran across the Borough. This gave DBC the opportunity to work in 
partnership with children centre services to promote all of the programmes running across 
the Borough over the summer holidays. But also to promote Public Health Campaigns 
such as Change 4 life and Six Ways of Wellbeing. 

Outcomes: The Don’t Sit, Get Fit (DSGF) Family Weight Management Programme
 Don’t Sit Get Fit delivered in 7 schools across Dartford during 2017/18. 
 3 Dynamo clubs ran during 2017/18 to coincide with the school term times.
 75 families Engaged on the FWM programme.
 98 Children engaged on the FWM programme.

Summer Sizzlers PLAY4LIFE 2017
2 Sessions every week for a total of 5 weeks.
Dinky Dynamos (stay & play) – Sport active games:
Collaboration work with children centre services to promote interaction between parent, 
toddlers and children centre staff to encourage stay and play sessions
Children’s Centres that took part:
Temple Hill – Healthy Living Centre
Numbers – 12 Families

Objective 1:
Give every child 
the best start in 
life

Issues:



APPENDIX A

Page 2 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

Local Priority: Support older people to keep them safe & living fulfilled independent lives
Action:  Develop Dementia Friendly Communities, provide services and activities to support 

sufferers and carers.
 Deliver effective local services for falls prevention and support individuals to improve self-

management of long term conditions.
 Support the Dartford’s Elder’s Forum.
 Improve provision of adaptations and equipment in the home to prevent accidents and 

improve the quality of life.
 Support individuals with learning disabilities to access services.
 Support Shopsafe ID Scheme.
 Promote Six Ways To Wellbeing.

Objective 2: 
Enable all 
children, young 
people and adults 
to maximise their 
capabilities and 
have control over 
their lives

Progress: Dementia Friendly Communities
 Ongoing support for local Dementia awareness support groups. Linking in with 

organisations, signposting individuals and carers requiring support. Also signposted 
organisations and business that require Training. 

Postural Stability
 2 Community based Postural Stability classes during the week at different locations in the 

Borough.
Elders Forum
 Elders Forum has grown to become one of the most successful events of its kind in the 

South East targeted at the elderly.
Six Ways To Wellbeing
 Support local and Kent-wide events and campaigns such as Six Ways to Wellbeing and 

Change 4 Life. 
Support Shopsafe ID Scheme
 DBC initiated and the scheme was run by the Community Safety team - enabling older, 

vulnerable and people with learning disabilities to visit Dartford's town centre and feel safe 
by signing up to the scheme.



APPENDIX A

Page 3 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

Outcomes: Dementia Awareness 
Yearly number total of people attending the dementia café in Dartford:
 126 People with Dementia.
 138 Carers of people with Dementia.
Postural Stability / Falls Prevention Community based classes
During 2017/18 there were 683 attendances and 77 sessions were run. 
The project was monitored in quarter 2 and 4, and reported the following outcomes:
Of those surveyed  (14 returned evaluations):
 14% people have improved their Mental Wellbeing.
 71% people have improved their general fitness.
 36% people reported the class had improved their social life.
 29% people reported being more active.
 43% people reported that participation in this class had improved their current medical or 

health condition.
 93% people reported that they were very satisfied with the classes.
 29% people have reported a positive outcome not listed above.
Other feedback from participants of the class were as follows:
 The class improved my confidence in balance. Feel much better.
 Helped with knee problems also lead to an improved confidence in balance.
 Helped coping with Parkinson’s. Improved confidence in balance.
 Has improved deteriorating physical condition and ability. 
Elders Forum 
The Elders Forum currently has 180 members on the system.  The events enable 
engagement with residents in the Borough. 

Examples of the topics presented are:

 Kent Fire Authority – safety in the home.
 NHS – integration of services consultation.
 Solar heating – benefits/cost savings.    



APPENDIX A

Page 4 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

 KCC – Adult social care.
 NatWest Bank – banking fraud prevention.
 Improve provision of adaptations and equipment in the home to prevent accidents and 

improve the quality of life.

Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal Environmental - Dartford Borough Council

Appendix B  Table: 1 The Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal Energy breakdown

Winter Warmth
Fund from Public Health from excess winter death allocation and is a repayable grant placed 
as a charge against the property.  Criteria is for specific health conditions. 
4 Winter Warmth grants issued for Central heating systems totalling £9600.00 
Gas Connections 
Funded through SGN following recent partnership work.  Criteria of being on specific benefits 
or Local Authority Flexible Eligibility declaration  
1 – grant for gas connection £723.60
Local Authority Flexible Eligibility 
This scheme was introduced under the new ECO2 Government Programme.  Dartford 
Borough Council issued its first Statement of Intent (a requirement of LA Flex stating the 
eligibility criteria for Dartford) in July 2017.  Between the period July 2017 and March 2018 we 
issued 21 LA Flex Declarations, this included 3 Declaration we made on behalf of Gravesham 
Borough Council who has delegated this duty to Dartford as a trial of the delegation process. 
The LA Flex focus is on people with a low income and whose health is impacted by living in a 
cold home.  It’s very different from previous schemes where the focus has been on people in 
receipt of specific benefits and we have found LA Flex is reaching more vulnerable people.  In 
Early 2018 the Dartford Safe and Secure Grant was developed using Better Care Funding – 
some residents due to their age and health condition are also eligible for funding from the 
Safe and Secure Grant to top up the cost of a boiler replacement in addition to the LA Flex 
monies which in most cases means the resident (if eligible) receives a boiler at no cost to 
themselves. 



APPENDIX A

Page 5 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

Some of the LA Flex cases are very complex – gas connections and first time central heating 
is a lengthy process and some of the cases referred through the Hospital Discharge Scheme 
have highlighted hoarding issues in properties which has delayed the ability to put heating in 
to a property.
5 Central Heating Systems for  have been installed through the new LA Flex process
1 Loft Insulation installed
Funding received towards the different measures installed:
Local Authority Flexible Eligibility £4857.33
ECO (HHCRO funding) £666.36
SGN £723.60
Council funding from Safe and Secure Grant £2458.06
HIA funding to reduce the cost a resident had to pay for a complex first time heating install - 
 £166.67
Kent Warm Homes Scheme
This is a Kent wide scheme which works through a framework of suppliers to obtain 
Government ECO funding towards insulation measures and heating.  
During the period April 2017 to March 2018 
From the figures provided by Aran Services the approved contractor for the process the 
following receive ECO funding towards insulation measures:
5 Cavity Wall Insulations
12 Loft Insulation
1 other insulation measure
ECO funding received towards the different measures installed:
ECO funding £5560.16
Due to changes in the Government ECO funded scheme being introduced and the ending of 
the Kent Warm Homes framework limited promotion of the Warm Homes Scheme has taken 
place across Kent districts. Developing LA Flex processes have been a focus of Dartford’s 
work during the year to reach more vulnerable residents.



APPENDIX A

Page 6 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant

Appendix B Table: 2: Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant 

Shop safe ID Scheme
 This scheme is due to be relaunched 2018/2019.
Six Ways To Wellbeing
 Ongoing local and Kent-wide events and campaigns promoting Six Ways to Wellbeing and 

Change 4 Life. 
Issues:

Local Priority: Support businesses to have healthy workplaces
Action:  Support Kent Healthy Businesses Award to increase the number of local businesses taking 

part.
 Ensure businesses and workplaces are safe. 
 Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual workers.
 Collaborative work between DBC and Fairfield Leisure Centre to promote healthy lifestyles.

Objective 3: 
Create fair 
employment & 
good work for all

Progress: Dartford  Healthy Business award 
The Work place health is led by Diljeet Nota Diljeet Notal Health Improvement Practitioner 
who is based at The Grand Healthy Living Centre in Gravesend.

KCHFT continue to produce data for The Dartford Health Inequalities Action plan.
They report on figures relating to the objective Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine 
and manual workers.
The Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator sits on the Kent Tobacco Control Alliance Group.  This 
group has reported a decrease in smoking statistics in the Dartford area.

Collaborative work between DBC and Fairfield Leisure Centre to promote healthy lifestyles is 
ongoing. Projects such as The Family Weight Management Programme Dynamo’s and Why 



APPENDIX A

Page 7 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

Weight the Adult Weight management programmes ran over the 2017/2018 period.  The 
centre continue to promote the session for DBC.

Outcomes:
 Dartford  Healthy Business award scheme 
The total number of businesses that engaged with the Dartford Healthy Business award 
scheme from April 2017 to March 2018 was 7.
KCHFT Reduce the smoking prevalence among routine and manual workers
No. of quits:
Qtr 1    No update expected this quarter
Qtr 2   15 of 45 Manual Labourers who set quit dates in the first six months achieved them 
and were smoke free (up to date as of the 30 October). 
Qtr 3    of those recorded with occupations of routine and manual. 43 quit dates set with 23 
achieving a 4 week quit status. 53% success rate.
Qtr 4   Quit Date Set – 102  (30 of which were from R&M) 4 week Quit – 30 (14 of which were 
from R&M)
Success overall – 29% 
Collaborative work between DBC and Fairfield Leisure Centre to promote healthy 
lifestyles is ongoing
Health Matters programme-Support individual to improve self-management of long term 
conditions.
Qtr. 1    currently 229 DD users, 20 casual member on Health and Wellbeing & Currently 
running Escape Pain 6- 8 people engaging on this programme.
Qtr. 2  currently 229 DD users, 20 casual member on Health and Wellbeing & Currently 
running Escape Pain 6- 8 people engaging on this programme.   
Qtr. 3 30 new joiners from 1st Oct - 31st Dec on GP referral. 
Escape Pain course run in November 10 participants.   
Qtr. 4 Current membership under Health & Wellbeing is 256. 

Issues:



APPENDIX A

Page 8 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

Local Priority: Provide the right support at the right time including financial & debt support. 
Action:  Improve outcomes for families identified through the troubled families programme.

 Promote sources of information and where people can get help with benefits and financial 
support.

 Provide information for older people who may struggle to heat their home.
 Provide financial advice and training on how to best manage debts and household budgets 

as part of the HERO project.
Progress: Dartford HERO Project

 Between 1st of April 2017 to 31.03.2018.
 55 Customers referred in DBC Dartford.

Outcomes: Dartford HERO Project
 37 customers engaged with the service in this period.
 25 customers required rent arrears support.
 £4,628.76 housing benefit recovered.

Objective 4: 
Ensure healthy 
standards of living 
for all

Issues:

Local Priority: Develop our communities to be healthy places 
Action:  Provide and promote opportunities for sport, leisure and active recreation.

 Improve and minimise the effects of poor air quality on vulnerable groups. 
 Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way. 
 Reduce the impact of poor housing and noise pollution on health.
 Ensure development in the borough provides a good quality of life and creates the 

conditions for communities to flourish.
 Effective partnership Working in with GP’s, Hospitals, KCHFT, schools, Health Trainers, 

MIND, Charities. 

Objective 5: 
Create & develop 
healthy 
sustainable places 
& communities

Progress: Sport and Leisure
Kent Sport administers a number of funding streams, both via Sport England core funded 
work, and work supported by Kent County Council. This section of the report outlines the main 



APPENDIX A

Page 9 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

funding streams administered by Kent Sport, and the benefits to Dartford from each funding 
stream in 2017-18.
 Coach Scholarship Grants In 2017-18, two of these grants were allocated in Dartford, with 

a value of £400.
 Capital Grants In 2017-18, no grants were made to organisations in Dartford.
 Small Grants One of these grants was allocated in Dartford, with a value of £412.
 Kent Sport Connect By the end of 2017-18, there were 767 clubs registered with Kent 

Sport Connect across the county, with 33 of these clubs located in Dartford.
 Coaches Register By the end of 2017-18, the register had 539 coaches on it, with 12 of 

these coming from Dartford. During 2017-18, 125 new coaches registered, one of these 
coming from Dartford.

 Project 500 In Kent, there were 57 new registrations in 2017-18, five of these coming from 
Dartford.

 Workshops Kent Sport organises and delivers a programme of education courses/forums 
aimed at coaches and club officials. In 2017-18, 34 workshops/forums were run in Kent, 
with 478 people attending. Eight workshops were held in Dartford, with 106 residents 
attending.

 Workplace Challenge In Dartford, a total of 43 individuals had registered, representing 14 
workplaces, with 17 new individual registrations in 2017-18.

 Free Access to National Sports People (FANS) Scheme. There are 515 athletes on the 
FANS database and of these, seven are based in Dartford. Within Kent, access 
arrangements have been agreed for the FANS members to use 67 facilities, with four 
being in Dartford.

 Talented Performers. In Dartford, three grants were awarded, to the value of £3,000.
 Satellite Clubs. In Dartford 22 Satellite Clubs were registered, with 20 of these were

active during 2017-18, and a total of £28,363 invested.
 Primary School Sports Premium. Over the course of 2017-18, £10,136,110

was allocated across Kent, with £513,030 allocated to Primary Schools in Dartford. 
 In January 2018, Kent Sport the Primary PE conference, in total, six schools from Dartford 

were represented at the conference.
 Kent School Games & Sainsbury’s School Games. During 2017-18, 12 schools in Dartford 



APPENDIX A

Page 10 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

took part in School Games finals. For the Kent School Games, 23 schools were involved in 
either heats, finals or both.

 In total, 213 individual participants from Dartford took part in School Games finals
events (149 boys, and 64 girls), while 200 individual participants from Dartford 
participated in Kent School Games events (94 boys, and 106 girls).

 In 2017-18, one school and 29 participants from Dartford were involved in the School 
Games, while two schools and 13 participants were involved in the Kent School Games.

To support the delivery of the Kent School Games and School Games locally, each School
 Games Organiser was given a grant to assist with young leader training programme with 

transport, equipment, publicity material and venue hire. In 2017-18, one grant, to the value 
of £2,000, was awarded to SGOs in Dartford.

Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way
Continued routine maintenance and upkeep of public open spaces and playgrounds has taken 
place to encourage public to make use of the facilities
Six Ways To Wellbeing
The Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator and the One You Kent Advisors also support local and 
Kent-wide events to promote wellbeing campaigns such as Six Ways to Wellbeing and 
Change 4 Life. 

Outcomes: Sport and Leisure
 Sporting provision is a priority for Dartford’s community grant scheme Holiday activity 

programme. 
 Summer Sizzler’s Promotion of free or low cost physical activity opportunities in the 

borough through Get Active. 
 For a Healthier Happier Dartford initiative.
 Co-ordination and expansion of GP exercise referral scheme in the Borough.
 Implementation of Dartford Core Strategy - part of the Local Development Framework.
 Improve facilities and activities in parks and open spaces.
 Supporting communities to enhance, look after, be actively involved in and access their 



APPENDIX A

Page 11 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

local green spaces e.g. environmental projects or ‘Friends of’ groups.
 Deliver a programme of activities and events to increase accessibility e.g. educational and 

health walks across the Borough. E.g. Naturally Active Project.
 Promotion of annual Dartford Festival to encourage community involvement
Develop parks, green spaces, and public rights of way 
 The new Eagles Park Playground in Greenhithe opened and was handed over to 

Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council as they will be managing and maintaining it 
under a long term lease. The playground was jointly funded by us, them and KCC. The 
official opening is taking place on 26th May 2018.

Effective partnership Working in with GP’s, Hospitals, KCHFT, schools,  MIND, 
Charities
 Dartford Festival Saturday 15th  July & Sunday 16th  July 2017 
 The stall was run by DBC.
 KCHFT supported by carrying out Full Health Checks to those who are eligible. 
 A Health Trainer was present to be available to carry out MOT’s for those that do not 

qualify.
 DBC Co-ordinator  advised people about  health promotion as well as giving  out leaflets 

and recruit for WW and Dynamo’s 
 Six Ways to Wellbeing and DBC Health Walks and other programmes were promoted.
 The Smoothie bike was used to engage with people.
 The Dartford Youth Group also helped and assisted with the smoothie Bike.

Saturday 15th  July 2017

 9 Full Health Checks and 1 MOT were carried out by KCHFT  Health Checks Advisor
 3 full Health Checks and 9 MOTs were carried out by KCHFT  Health Trainer 

Sunday 16th  July 2017



APPENDIX A

Page 12 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

 7 full Health Checks Were carried out by KCHFT
 A total of 19 full health checks were completed and a total of 10 MOTs were carried out 

over the 2 days. 
 The Kent County Show allows DBC to maintain excellent links with KCHFT for a more 

joined up service and greater support for those who live in the area.

Health Inequalities Group
The Healthy Lifestyles Co-ordinator facilitates the Dartford Health Inequalities Meetings (HIG). 
This consists of numerous organisations and charities that contribute collaboratively to 
reducing health inequalities.

The members of the HIG have continued to increase. This allows DBC and the One You Kent 
Advisors to have good networking links with numerous organisations and promote our, and 
our partners’ services and programmes.

 Visits are made to our key partners such as GP surgeries to update and promote 
programmes to enable referrals to be made. Flyers are displayed in surgeries and leaflets 
are placed in prominent areas.  

 This has proved very successful in targeted different groups of individuals. 
 The One Kent Advisors are now based at two of our local surgeries and receive direct 

referrals from GP’s. 
 Information of all our programmes is also shared with other key partners and health 

professionals across the district. These include KCHFT and the NHS Health Check Team. 
 The Libraries in Dartford are a key focal point for locals to access information about the 

programmes and events currently running in the Borough. These are places that DBC has 
often supported MIND on World Mental Health Awareness days. 

 The Healthy Living Centre based in the community of Dartford, is in an ideal location for 
promotional activity.  This allows DBC and HLC to promote and target different groups.

Issues:



APPENDIX A

Page 13 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

Local Priority: Reduce the gap in health inequalities across social gradients 
Action:  Focus on improving the health of those at the bottom of the social gradient fastest.

 Reduce smoking prevalence particularly in areas or among groups of high prevalence.
 Deliver services and promote the benefits of a healthy diet and active lifestyle to reduce 

obesity and related co-morbidities.
 Promote sensible drinking and ensure treatment services are accessible for all.

Progress: Why Weight - Adult Weight Management
 During the year of 2017-18, Dartford Borough Council’s Healthy Living Team delivered 16 

courses of the Adult Weight Management Programme, Why Weight.  The programme is a 
12 week course, delivered by nutritionists and exercise specialists across the Dartford 
Borough.  Each week is comprised of an hour’s group discussion around a specific topic 
(food labelling, food content etc.) and an hour’s gentle exercise class.  

 The aim of the adult weight management service specification is to sustain a long term 
movement towards and maintenance of 5-10% body weight loss amongst overweight or 
obese adults from age 18.

Get Active Community Exercise Classes
The ‘Get Active – For a Healthier Happier Dartford’ project is originally based on findings of a 
social marketing project which was undertaken in the borough in 2009.  The overall aim of the 
project is to increase the resident’s knowledge of physical activity opportunities in the borough 
by promoting free and low-cost opportunities. 

Objective 6: 
Strengthen the 
role and impact of 
ill health 
prevention 

Outcomes: Why Weight Adult weight Management Programmes During 2017/2018:
 16 Adult healthy weight programmes ran in wards with high indexes of deprivation in the 

Dartford Area.
 A total of 260 people were recruited YTD. 
 Of these 260 booked to start 204 had a BMI of 28 or more and were classified as engagers 

who met the criteria.
 Of these 260 booked to start there were 218 engagers and 119 completers 
 Of those 260 booked to start 177 lost some weight (68%).



APPENDIX A

Page 14 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

 Of those 260 booked to start 74 people lost at least 3% of weight (28%).
 Of those 260 booked to start 40 people lost at least 5% (15%).
Lifestyle Shake up forms completed at the end of the interventions 
 Of the 260 people booked to start the programme 109 people responded via the lifestyle 

shake up form (42%).
 72 people reported an improvement in their uptake of moderate exercise (28%).
 72 people reported back that they had improved on their uptake of vigorous exercise 

(28%).
 0 reported back that they had increased their daily intake of fruit (0%).
 66 people reported back that they had increased their daily intake of Vegetables (25%).  
 22 people reported back that they had improved and decreased their intake of Fried Foods 

(8%). 
 51 people reported back that they had decreased their intake of High Fat dairy foods 

(20%).  
 61 people reported back that they had improved on their choices and intake of Snacks 

(23%). 
 Of those 260 people who completed the AUDIT-C questions from the Lifestyle Shake-up 

form 36 people reported back that they had improved on their intake of Alcohol (14%).  
 Of those 206 people 77 who completing the WEMWBS questions at the end of the 

intervention reported an improvement in their mental wellbeing (30%). 
 A total of 115 evaluation form were received back from clients. 
 110 (96%)  People said they would recommend the Why Weight programme to others.
 27 (23%) People joined the gym as a direct result of coming onto the Why Weight 

Programme. 

Appendix B Case studies from 4 participants of the Why Weight. 

A 

Get Active Community Exercise Classes



APPENDIX A

Page 15 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

 During 2017/18 there were 112 sessions with 964 attendances 
 The 964 attendances consisted of 31 Males and 933 females.
 The 512 attendees consisted of 16 Males and 496 females

During 2017/18 the project was monitored via evaluation forms and  the following outcomes 
from 25 people were received:

 88% were very satisfied with the activity.
 96% reported General fitness had improved.
 76% reported that Mental Well-being had improved. 
 56% reported that there Social Life had improved.
Health Walks
Dartford Health Walk programme is an accredited scheme which is part of the national Walking 
for Health initiative (WFH).  It began in February 2010 and now consists of six walks.  The walks 
are all ran by volunteers. The health walks have a strong relationship with the local mental 
health charities and receive referrals. 

 The 6 Health Walks operate at 5 different locations in the Borough. In 2017/18 there were 
270 walk sessions throughout the year.

 There were a total of 2381 attendances. 
 Consisting of 731 males and 1650 females.
 There were a total of 1069 attendees.
 The Health Walks have gone from strength to strength.
 In 2017/18 there were a total 70 new walkers.
 Greenhithe Walkers Celebrated and marked their 2 year anniversary since the walk started 

at the Greenhithe Community church.



APPENDIX A

Page 16 of 16

OBJECTIVES DETAIL Dartford

Wednesday 26th July 2017 Qtr. 2:  
 New Volunteer Health Walk leaders Training the DBC website advertised a one day free 

training course for Volunteer Health Walkers Leaders from across Sevenoaks District and 
Dartford Borough. The training was held at Dartford Borough Council and was attended by 
10 people from across both areas.  

 As a direct result of this training session a new walk was set up in the later part of 
2018in the Swanscombe area.

Appendix B Article written by Paul Buckley for a local magazine prompting walking.            

Health and Wellness programme

Health and Wellness programme at Fairfield Leisure Centre Supporting individuals to improve 
self-management of long term conditions a 12 week health and wellbeing programme run by 
specialists Level 4 Instructors, working with a variety of health conditions. Offering supervised 
gym sessions, unlimited access to the gym and the pool and 13 health based classes.  

Issues:



Appendix B

Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal Energy 

Table: 1

Auction round Average saving Sum of saving Number of 
switchers

Number of 
registrants

May 17 £157.41 £5981.58 38 76

October 17 £200.21 £8208.61 41 104

February 18 £187.85 £5071.95 27 126

The sum of saving is for actual switches through the scheme – it doesn’t take in to 
account people who registered, received an offer then negotiated a better deal with 
their current supplier.  It also doesn’t take in to account people who registered 
through a generic Kent Energy Deal account – the Dartford data is extrapolated from 
the overall Kent Energy Deal data and added to our final figures at a much later date 
when all new individual energy contracts are in place. 

Disabled Facilities Grants and Discretionary Assistance Grant

Table: 2

Grant Number Paid Installed

Discretionary 
Assistance Grant

2 9403.00 2 x curved track stair 
lift

Disabled Facilities 
Grants

39 341521.23 11 x Stair lift

3 x curved stair lift

4 x through floor lift

29 x flush floor 
shower

1 x over bath 
shower

2 x access

1 x cross over

1 x extension

1 x padding



Why Weight Case Studies

David Swanscombe W

David heard about the Why Weight programme whilst he was out on a weekly health 
walk that he took part on Sundays as part of the scheme run via Dartford Borough 
Council.  David lost about a stone in weight and has managed to maintain his weight 
loss.

“I have really enjoyed the last 12 weeks. I am glad I joined it was fun and I made 
some new friends”

 Sarah G Swanscombe W 

Programme Attended: Why Weight started September 2016 

How did you hear about the Why Weight programme? My GP referred me onto 
the programme after having my 40+ health check up to give me some help with 
losing weight. 

What encouraged you to join the programme? When I was first nominated to join 
the scheme, I will be honest, my mind was not in the right place to be there. I first 
attended with the attitude that I would ‘Play the game’ to shut the GP up & get them 
off my case. I wasn’t really bothered if I lost weight or not. 

What have been the benefits for you from joining the programme? During the 
first few weeks by making small changes to my diet (healthier snacks, better 
awareness of portion sizes and how to mix food group etc) I was very gradually 
losing weight. I had heard people say before that they were eating more but losing 
weight and thought what rubbish that was. It really was the case for me. 

To my utter shock when my food diary was assessed each week by the supporting 
Nutritionist (Kashmir Powar), she didn’t rip it apart and tell me what rubbish eating 
habits I had. Instead I was told that generally it was a healthy diet and small tweaks 
here and there would enhance it and make great changes. 

It really was much easier than I had envisaged and was now feeling achievable. 
Somehow my mind set changed and I was hooked. 

I began to introduce more exercise into my life. I invested in a fitness tracker and 
became obsessed in my daily step count. Instead of just walking to get my lunch, I 
walked the long route to get my lunch and then return the long way to the office. I 
started attending a weekly walk on a Sunday morning run by one of the Health 
Trainers at Why Weight (WW) (Maureen Ejimofor). It was a struggle at first to get up 
early on a Sunday morning and go for a walk, but I honestly love it now and have 



only missed one week due to a prior commitment. I started taking further walks at 
lunchtime when my fitness level improved and persuaded one of my colleagues to 
join me. She now walks everyday too. So by seeing the difference in me I am 
encouraging others to make changes too. 

At the last WW meeting I achieved my 5% goal that was set for me. I was ecstatic, I 
never thought that I would achieve this. 

On completing WW I asked if there was further support that I could be given as I was 
now hooked and wanted to continue on this new Healthy Living regime I had started. 
I was offered an 8 week one to one service with a Health Trainer (Maureen Ejimofor) 
which I grabbed with both hands. During the eight weeks I would keep a daily food 
diary and we would get together once a week to discuss/critique it. We would set 
SMART objectives each week for other things to try to incorporate. These objectives 
were never enforced on me, they were either agreed with me or I would suggest 
things I wanted to achieve. I also would send daily photographs of my evening meal 
to Maureen and she would then give feedback, advice, tips to me. 

At the end of the 12 weeks, although it was a bit daunting to begin with, I then felt 
ready to go ahead on my own. I was now fully equipped with the knowledge and 
skills I needed to continue down this Healthier Living path. I don’t think without this 
continued support I would have been able to do as well as I have. 

I have bumped into other people in our WW group since it finished and unfortunately 
they have both ‘fallen off the wagon’. I never would have dreamed in the beginning 
with my bad attitude that I would still be the one to be continuing the journey. 
Although my will power is driving this, I know that without the support and friendships 
I have made today I would not be where I am now. 

If you’ve attended weight loss groups before, what was different? I have attended 
Weight Watchers in the past. For me the difference has been the ongoing support . 
At Weight Watchers once I left the meeting I was on my own, I had no one to turn to 
for support during the week and after I had finished there. Although I had the course 
leader’s number, I never even thought of calling it. 

Another difference was that there were forbidden foods. The great thing about my 
Healthier way of living is that if I have a treat, I can do more exercise, tweak what I 
eat later that day or just start again the next day. There is no need to punish myself, I 
can eat anything, within reason. 

There was also none of the ongoing support offered which I have received here. 

Did you achieve what you set out to? Yes, and much more! 
To date (in 6 month) I have lost 1st 5lb. My body fat has decreased by 13.5%. I 



have gone down a clothes size. I never ever imagined that I could achieve that. 
I am still walking regularly both with the walking group and on my own, even though I 
have a current knee injury and need to take it easier until it is fixed, but I do what I 
can. 
I, with the support of a fellow walker Maria have set up a Facebook group for 
others like us that are on a journey to a Healthier Lifestyle. Maureen has provided 
lots of guidance and has actively supported us by adding many members, 
advertising and posting about her walks and actively encouraging members. We now 
have over 70 members, the group is quite active and people share tips, 
demonstrating their chosen activity for others to see, notify members of up& coming 
walking events, support each other, encouraging and motivating each other. Many of 
the current WW participants are on the group as well as friends, colleagues and 

Two of my colleagues have been influenced to work toward a Healthier Lifestyle 
having seen my results. The colleague mentioned above walks daily, and another 
colleague joins me weekly for a weigh in as she says she would be embarrassed to 
tell me she had put on weight. 
I can ignore the treat table opposite my desk now and take a healthy snack instead 
of the chocolates and cakes on there. 

Elaine Peppercorns QTR3

How did you hear about the Why Weight programme?

Through my GP

What encouraged you to join the programme?

I am keen to lose weight and my GP suggested it.

What have been the benefits for you from joining the programme?

Self-confidence, knowledge about food labelling, making friends

I am now definitely going in the right direction and its long term

The staff are amazing

Dennis Swanscombe QTR3 

Dennis has lost approximately 7 stones in weight with help from a weight 
management programme run by Dartford Borough Council, called ‘Why Weight’.

Dennis’ weight loss journey started almost 2 years ago when at 133.5 kgs (21 stone) 
and diagnosed with type 2 diabetes, his diet had spiraled out of control and his 
general health was in disarray.



He was signposted by a helpful nutritionist from Kent Community Health Foundation 
Trust to the Council’s Why Weight programme, a healthy lifestyle club that would 
change his life.

Dennis determinedly attended the initial course of 12 weeks, consisting of a single 2 
hour session each week involving both a qualified nutritionist and personal trainers 
Josh and Naomi. Now after two years of hard work assisted by the Council funded 
team, Dennis has triumphantly achieved the two goals he originally set out for 
himself; his GP has confirmed he no longer has type 2 diabetes, and his weight is 
now at 87.5 kgs (13 stone 11 lbs ), meaning he has lost an incredible 100 lbs.

He recently gave thanks to all of the people and organizations that without their 
support and friendship he would not have been able to achieve his goals, including 
Dartford Borough Council for their funding of the Why Weight programme, 
Nutritionist and Dartford Borough Council ‘Why Weight’ coordinator Kashmir Powar, 
the ‘One You’ advisors linked to the Council and all of the other nutritionists, 
personal trainers and friends that he met and was helped by along the way.

Speaking about his experience, Dennis said, “The journey was sometimes rocky but 
I'm glad I travelled it. My very sincere thanks to you all.”

To celebrate Dennis’ fantastic achievement, on the 2nd of August he was invited into 
the Mayor’s Chambers at the Dartford Borough Council Civic Centre, to be 
presented by the Mayor of Dartford Cllr David Mote with a certificate commending 
his inspirational success. Since losing the weight, Dennis has since thrown out all 
but one of his 3XL shirts, which he keeps as a reminder of just how far he has come.

Why Weight is a free 12 week programme funded by Dartford Borough Council that 
encourages people and gives them the tools to manage their weight more effectively. 
The programme includes gentle exercise classes, healthy eating advice and weekly 
weight and waist checks as well as ongoing personal support.



Health Walks Article written By Paul Buckley Volunteer walk Leader 



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 2 of 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the second quarter of 
2018/19.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report.



CABINET
6 DECEMBER 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q2 2018/19

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q2 Update

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Demolition to the remainder of the site to commence on 19 November. Construction 
of Phase 1 at northern end of the site expected to start January 2019 (118 dwellings).  
Detailed plans for Phase 2 and 3A are expected around March 2019. Bellways expect 
the whole site to be built out in 2 years.

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site
Awaiting written confirmation from KCC regarding satisfaction of the title conditions. 
Ongoing meetings are being held with the developer to discuss progress. The 
planning application is expected to be submitted in March 2019.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Installation of the Test Area in Market Street and attended public engagement 
completed. Formal Market Street Outline design complete and confirmation of 
commercial agreement with consultant for the detailed stage. Moving into detailed 
design stage.

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Installation of the Test Area in Market Street and attended public engagement 
completed. Formal Market Street Outline design complete and confirmation of 
commercial agreement with consultant for the detailed stage. Moving into detailed 
design stage.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

675 homes delivered to date at the Ebbsfleet Garden City sites which have 
commenced in Dartford: Eastern Quarry (528) and Ebbsfleet Green (147).  Reserved 
matters consents are in place for a further 583 homes at Castle Hill in Eastern quarry.  
Additional reserved matters for 496 homes are currently awaiting decision from EDC.  
An amended masterplan and revised S106 have been agreed for the remainder of 
the Eastern Quarry, which comprises 4,750 units.  Ebbsfleet Green has 507 homes 
with reserved matters agreed, with the remaining 297 at outline stage.

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Eastern route out of Ingress Park now operational, providing full access to the service 
through the development. Fastrack spine across Eastern Quarry and tunnel link 
through to Bluewater projected opening September 2021.



2

London Rd/St Clements Way new dedicated Fastrack lane - works ongoing due to be 
completed Spring 2019.

A Fastrack Advisory Board has been set up with a view to supporting the ongoing 
improvement and delivery of the Fastrack service.

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Work on the design for the new river channel has nearly been finalised. Options are 
being explored for joint procurements between the Acacia and Town Centre projects. 
New managing consultants have been appointed.

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford

We have established a website for the Dartford Business Awards and have agreed to 
partner with the Kent Growth Hub who are also promoting business opportunities in 
Dartford.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition
The 2nd Dartford Business Awards took place on 20 September 2018 and was 
extremely successful with entries from over 80 businesses in the Dartford area and 
over 350 people attending the awards ceremony.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

We continue to work with Planning to support the implementation of the town centre 
regeneration works. Through Town Centre Management we are delivering a wide 
range of projects, events and the Thursday and Saturday markets, and we are 
organising a Business Breakfast Forum on 7 November 2018 with over 80 delegates 
attending.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q2 Update
Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Groundworks on the site have been undertaken and work has commenced on laying 
the building’s foundations. The building’s steel frame is being fabricated. Negotiations 
for the lease for the facility are being finalised.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 2, 17 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 127. 
Attendees were 67.

There are currently 7 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 2, 89 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 714. Attendees were 304. There were 



3

15 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough. In quarter 2, 29 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 291. 
Attendees were 131.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. No Adult Weight Management Programmes ran over the 
summer period.

Don’t Sit Get Fit/Dynamo’s are family weight management programmes. No Family 
Weight Management Programmes ran over the summer period.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. In quarter 2, a 
local pharmacy successfully completed the Healthy Workplaces programme.

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

In quarter 2, there were 3 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £6,925. Promotion and the opening for applications for the Dartford Borough 
Council Community Grant was undertaken.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer The strong working relationship continues, with an increase in membership due to the 
expansion of the gym space.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

A wide range of groups are being encouraged to use the Sir Peter Blake Gallery, they 
include the photographic society, the local embroidery society and a series of works 
by local poets. There has also been an exhibition of children’s art.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year Upcoming events include Santa’s House, the Santa tour of the borough and the Carol 
Concert.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments Green space continues to be designed in to new developments.

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

Discussions continue between the Council, the developer and the CCG. The CCG 
are awaiting a decision on their funding bid to NHS England for the build costs.



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q2 Update
Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards reducing ASB. Community Protection Warning letters are now 
being used to ban trouble makers and shoplifters from the town centre.

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

One missed high risk inspection in September represents 50% and this was due to 
access issues.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The excellent relationship with DBC licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been very 
innovative and ground breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi 
and private hire drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the 
country.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

DBC licensing have set a new trend in introducing a series of workshops in 
partnership with Kent Fire and rescue and Kent Police. This involves bespoke training 
in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant legislation and road safety measures. The 
scheme is ground breaking and proving very successful.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce ASB 
particularly excess drinking in public places. We are now piloting a scheme to tackle 
low level youth shoplifters based upon restorative justice practices.



5

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q2 Update

Procure a new waste collection contract Next contract is out to tender with award expected in January 2019.

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security to act as our enforcement 
capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since then and up until the end of 
September 2018 8,860 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have been issued to offenders in 
the borough.

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few LA’s within Kent to have introduced this. Up until October 17, there have 
been 28 FPN’s for minor fly tips served by DBC Enforcement Officers (not Kingdom).

In terms of Fly Tip investigations DBC have an impressive 60% positive outcome / 
disposal rate.

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented

A number of community groups continue to be helped with carrying out their own litter 
picking initiatives.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

East of Gravesend option (Option C) has been selected.  Public consultation on the 
details of the scheme taking place 10 October to 20 December 2018.  Development 
Consent Order to be submitted Autumn 2019.  Expected completion date 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Completed.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

Air quality continues to be monitored. Hot weather has created high pollution levels.



6

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q2 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the borough for 2017/18. Council 
new build programme progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 2 of the 
Council new build programme close to being finalised for approval.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 Delivery target achieved.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

First primary school opened on Eastern Quarry.

Planning application for primary school on Northern Gateway expected December 18, 
with opening 2019/20. 

Stone Lodge outline application incorporating secondary school submitted, with 
temporary school opening in 2019.

Plans are being progressed for health hub on former Co-op site as part of Muse 
development of the site. 

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

In quarter 2, there were 3 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme. 
Promotion and the opening for applications for the Dartford Borough Council 
Community Grant was undertaken.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light

Work is underway on Dartford Festival 2019. A successful Festival of Light event was 
held last month.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

Funding arrangements through HLF have changed and this will have a knock on 
effect on proposals for the future refurbishment of the Museum.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote

Annual Canvass is progressing with a good return rate and focus is now on 
encouraging people identified to register to vote.  E-Canvassing was used for the first 
time and proved to be successful. The revised Register of Electors will be published 
on the 1 December 2018 and it is expected to show an increase electorate



7

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q2 Update

Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

Website accessibility – With the majority of website users now using mobile devices, 
the mobile design has been enhanced to make better use of the available space, 
providing easier access to all main services and e-forms utilising more space.

Replacement online Special Collection application – A new application that provides a 
better customer experience with the end-to-end process being completed with no 
need for intervention by DBC staff. Application also includes a contractor interface 
that speeds up back end processing and optimises the collection resources.

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council

Agile working continues to be trialled in two departments within the Council (one in 
internal services and one in external services).  Feedback on successes and 
concerns will be received and reviewed before rolling out further. An IT Review is 
taking place which will highlight IT support needed and costs.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget Medium Term Financial Plan reviewed and future year options to be determined.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs 2017/18 Programme delivered on time and within budget.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

2019/20 75% pilot bid has been submitted. Initial monitoring shows good financial 
results from the 2018/19 pilot.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

The final Community Governance Review recommendations were approved by the 
GAC on 27 September. The LGBCE had recommended changes to some of the 
parish internal electoral arrangements as part of their wider borough warding review.  
These changes have now been finalised by an Order agreed by Parliament. The 
Council’s final recommendations have altered some of the LGBCE’s changes and 
therefore consent is required to amend the Order. Once consent has been given, the 
Council will then need to make a Reorganisation Order by December 2018 in order 
for the changes to take effect from the May 2019 elections.





1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q2 2018/19

Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy income £2,061,024 £794,057 £704,513 £181,170 £885,683  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied 
to eligible development since April 2014. During quarter 2 
of 2018/19 relatively few payments have been made. One 
payment represents an instalment for a scheme that is 
liable for over £100k. Payments can rise or fall from 
quarter to quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon 
commencement of consented development. 15% of the 
revenue generated from CIL liable developments in a local 
area, will be passed to town/parish councils and applied to 
projects in local neighbourhoods, and a further proportion 
of the total CIL revenue will be used for administrative 
costs. In December 2017 Cabinet resolved that no CIL 
allocations would be made during the financial year 
2018/19, due to identified potential infrastructure project 
plans not being sufficiently advanced. However, this 
situation will be kept under review.



2

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Overall business birth rate 740 N/A Not measured for 
Quarters N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to new business 
registrations as business births. Latest available figures 
show that there were 740 business births in 2016 which is 
up 0.68% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC 
area), the business birth rate in 2016 was 8,730. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update for 2017 is due at the 
end of November 2018.

Overall business death rate 495 N/A Not measured for 
Quarters N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses 
that have ceased to trade (identified through de-registration 
of the administrative units, that is, VAT and PAYE) as 
business deaths. Latest available figures show that there 
were 495 business deaths in 2016, which is up 25.31% 
from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business death rate in 2016 was 7,325. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is due at the end of 
November 2018.

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.3% 1.1% 1.1% 1.1%  

There were 765 unemployed people in the Borough in 
September 2018, which represents an unemployment rate 
of 1.1%. This has increased since the previous month (45 
more unemployed people in September than in August). In 
Kent overall (KCC area), the unemployment rate in 
September 2018 was 2.0%.

Number of new homes completed (April-
March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for 

Quarters N/A  Housing delivery continues to be strong.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Total 
Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 504,916 132,174 133,431 265,605  

Membership peaked in July 2018 at 3,649, as the centre 
continued to benefit from the recent investment in the gym 
floor. This followed with a small reduction in August 2018 
which is normal seasonal trend.

Between 1st July and 30th September 2018, Fairfield 
received 133,431 visits compared to 132,174 visits in the 
quarter from April to June 2018. Compared to last year this is 
up 3,252 visits, 721 related to swimming activities due the 
extra nice weather and 2,436 in fitness activities with gym 
member visits having a significant impact following the 
expansion works in this area.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Average 
Number of Park Run Users 146 161 168 364 266  

This figure now includes both the Dartford Parkrun held in 
Central Park (average 192) and the Dartford Heath Parkrun 
(average 86).

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Average 
Number of Junior Park Run Users 37 35 39 50 45  

There has been steady average attendance especially over 
the summer holiday period. These figures also include an 
event in July with 99 runners.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Princes 
Park Mini Pitch Users 179 191 38 34 72  

Income for this quarter is slightly down compared to the last 
quarter due to the regular teams mostly being off for school 
holidays and returning in September.

Number of local groups supported through 
Community Grant and other grant 
schemes

34 38 4 5 9  

In quarter 2, there were 3 grants awarded under the Salute 
to Youth Scheme and 2 grants awarded under the DBC 
Community Fund. The Community Grant for 2018/19 will be 
launched in quarter 3.

Percentage attendance at the Orchard 
Theatre (% of total seats available which 
are used)

61.33% 59.42% 64% 54% 59%  
The quarter 2 footfall figures are slightly lower than previous 
years by 7% mainly due to 2017 hosting 2 weeks of 
Hairspray selling over 9,000 tickets.



4

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for 

Quarters
N/A

 

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 9.1 years lower for men in the most deprived 
areas of Dartford than in the least deprived areas. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 7.8 years lower for 
men. This is an annual indicator and the next update is due 
July 2019.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for 

Quarters
N/A

 

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived areas. 
In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 4.7 years lower 
for women. This is an annual indicator and the next update is 
due July 2019.

Percentage of obese children in Year 6 21.9% N/A Not measured for 
Quarters

N/A
 

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 21.9% of 
children in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) were classified as obese 
in the Borough. This is higher than the previous year where 
21.1% of children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) for 2016/17, the figure is 18.5%. This is 
an annual indicator and the next update is due in 2019.

Percentage of adults achieving at least 150 
minutes of physical exercise per week 63.9% N/A Not measured for 

Quarters
N/A

 

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 63.9% of 
adults were physically active in the Borough. This is slightly 
up from the 2015/16 figure of 63.1%. This indicator is defined 
as the percentage of adults (aged 19+) that meet Chief 
Medical Officer recommendations for physical activity (150+ 
moderate intensity equivalent minutes per week).



5

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated by 
CCTV this month 72 78 27 17 44  Despite challenges with staff turnover, outcomes remain 

stable.

Total number of arrests supported by 
CCTV this month 59 58 21 12 33  Despite challenges with staff turnover, outcomes remain 

stable.

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) 209 436 100 83 183  

There has been some new take up from businesses but the 
overall figure remains reduced due to business closures and 
financial constraints on some SME's.

Number of Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC) interventions against persistent 
offenders

22 14 3 3 6  

We are continuing to use Community Protection Warnings 
(CPW) instead of DTAC exclusions which are non-
enforceable. This is proving to be a far better and more 
strategic approach which has a legislative framework to 
support it.

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 379 50 136 186  This continues to be a highly effective tool in tackling ASB 

across the district.

Number of Community Protection Notices 
issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 46 13 32 45  The lower numbers of CPN's (against CPW's) reflects the 

effectiveness of Community Protection Warnings.

Number of Public Space Protection Order 
Enforcement Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 0 1 0 1  The performance reflects the vulnerability of the enforcement 

principally laying with another agency (Police).

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 27 3 3 6  

Whilst the CSU work closely with the Police in identifying 
when the use of an ABA is appropriate, it remains exclusively 
a Police task to decide to proceed, issue and then monitor 
the agreement. The Council use Community Protection 
Warnings and Notices to respond to the types of behaviour 
that an ABA tackles, but these are limited to those over the 
age of 18. ABA's tend to be aimed at those under 18 years.

Percentage of High risk (categories A & B) 
food hygiene inspections due and 
completed (cumulative)

100% 100% 100% 50% 50% 100% One missed high risk inspection in September represents 
50% and this was due to access issues.



6

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social behaviour 
incidents in the Borough by the Police 2,982 2,135 461 526 987  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home Office 
crime counting rules, (effectively making year on year 
comparisons impossible) this will no longer be reported on 
via Pentana. The difference between crimes reported to the 
Police and statistics gathered by the British Crime survey 
are markedly different.  A full explanation has been 
submitted to both the DBC Community Safety Partnership 
and Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee.

Total number of crimes reported in the 
Borough 10,098 12,060 3,537 3,616 7,153  

The counting rules for crime pattern analysis have been 
changed by the Home Office; therefore comparisons cannot 
be made until further notice from the Police. 

Number of criminal damage offences 
reported in the Borough 1,652 1,445 380 424 804  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home Office 
crime counting rules, (effectively making year on year 
comparisons impossible) this will no longer be reported on 
via Pentana. The difference between crimes reported to the 
Police and statistics gathered by the British Crime survey 
are markedly different.  A full explanation has been 
submitted to both the DBC Community Safety Partnership 
and Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee.



7

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of Nitrogen Dioxide 
levels from all automatic air quality 
monitoring stations in the Borough 
(micrograms per m2)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 43.1 33.1 38.6 35.9  Air quality continues to be monitored. Hot weather has 

created high pollution levels.

Number of households taking part in 
energy efficiency initiatives in the 
Borough

571 241 60 108 168  Figures are positive and similar to those achieved in 
2017/18.

Number of households taking part in 
green bin service 6,141 5,740 5,881 6,043 5,962 6,000 The number of customers has slightly increased.

Number of fly-tipping incidents 159 2,560 835 653 1,488
Whilst still high, the number of reported incidents of fly-
tipping has decreased since the reopening of the Pepperhill 
tip.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 58 14 11 25 The number of incidents of graffiti remains very low.

Percentage of household waste going to 
landfill 1.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6%  The amount of waste being sent to landfill remains 

consistently low.



8

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing register 1,064 1,134 1,137 1,106 1,106
There has been a drop in the numbers on the waiting list this 
quarter due to verification checks undertaken on inactive 
applications.

No of households living in temporary 
accommodation 107 108 93 82 82 The number of families in temporary accommodation is 

down again which is positive news.

Number of households where 
homelessness has been prevented 50 78 61 N/A N/A

The quarter 2 figure is not yet available due to some issues 
with extracting information from the government’s new 
homelessness data collection system (Hclic). This is 
expected to be resolved soon. The quarter 2 figure will be 
available in the next report.

Number of service requests completed for 
Private Sector Housing 429 234 72 51 123 125 Performance is on target.

Percentage of repairs completed in time 90.92% 87.62% 91.79% 96.46% 93.94% 98.00% Further improvement achieved this quarter and just below 
the very challenging target set but all very positive.

Average time taken to re-let local authority 
housing (in calendar days) (EXCL major 
works)

20.41 21.02 24.35 24.4 24.37 20

The target has not been achieved this quarter due to a high 
number of voids that required works that took longer than 
the standard 20 day target and several hard to let properties 
in the housing schemes. The situation has now recovered 
operationally and it is anticipated that the target will be 
achieved by the end of 2018/19.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes delivered 
(gross) 239 173 52 46 98 70 The target has already been achieved and does not include 

DBC units due for occupation in coming months.

Number of new homes completed (Apr-Mar) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for 
Quarters N/A Housing delivery continues to be strong.

Number of service requests raised for 
Private Sector Housing

New indicator 
for 2017/18 272 70 81 151 The number of service requests received is similar to those 

during 2017/18.
No of private sector vacant dwellings that are 
returned into occupation or demolished 101 100 20 19 39 50 The target should be achieved by the end of the year.



9

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19 Q2 2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business Rates 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 98.9% 32.0% 57.4% 57.4% 56.2%

Business Rate collection continues to perform strongly in 
spite of the raising of £176,000 of charges on 26 September 
2018 in respect of the children’s activity centre.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 97% 29.2% 56.5% 56.5% 56.7%

Council tax collection percentage remains 0.2% down as 
compared with 2017/18 largely due to the timing of 
instalments for new dwellings.

Average time taken to process a new 
claim for Housing Benefit (cumulative)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 22 28 26 26 23

Capita's off-site processing resilience service is still focusing 
on helping with  the administration of new claims on the 
Council’s behalf until further notice (there is no additional 
cost to the authority as this service is being funded by DWP 
grants). However, there have been some staff vacancies left 
on hold pending the completion of a staffing restructure 
within the Revenues and Benefits service. Now that the 
restructure is complete, recruitment to these posts can go 
ahead but this has already impacted on Q2 & will continue 
to impact on performance in Q3

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to short term (<4 weeks) illness 
per employee

4.39 3.18 1.08 1.04 2.12 2

There has been an increase in short term sickness absence 
against last year. An Employee Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy has been drafted with key actions to try and reduce 
absence levels where possible.  A number of wellbeing 
initiatives are already taking place.

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to long term (>4 weeks) illness 
per employee

2.38 3.15 2.1 1.69 3.79 2.02

There has been an increase in long term sickness absence 
against last year. An Employee Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy has been drafted with key actions to try and reduce 
absence levels where possible.  A number of wellbeing 
initiatives are already taking place.

Percentage of supplier payments made 
within 30 days of receipt of invoice 99.02% 99.35% 99.01% 99% 99% 99% Strong performance continued during period.

Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery - 
rents collected as a proportion of rents 
owed.

97.67% 97.8% 91.9% 95.36% 95.36% 95% The percentage of rent collected is on target for the year.

Number of phone calls received by the 
Council 577,329 518,358 134,073 129,695 263,768 The total number of calls received in the last quarter have 

fallen slightly compared to the same quarter of last year 



10

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19 Q2 2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Status

however, if we look at the percentage decline it is less than 
2% so it is unlikely that there is a specific reason for the fall. 
Special collections have now been made an online service 
only, since early September, however this will not have had 
a significant impact on the past quarter.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 829,677 226,842 249,098 475,940 July experienced a high number of website visits which 
coincides with the Dartford Festival.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s current Rolling Work Plan.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the updated Rolling Work Plan be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. An updated Rolling Work Plan for the Policy Overview Committee is 
attached at Appendix A to this report. The updated Plan reflects the 
Committee’s discussions on 11 September 2018, subsequent input 
from Senior Officers following consultations with Outside Bodies, 
together with details of long-standing items previously agreed by the 
Committee (with a timeframe) plus items agreed, but still to be 
allocated a timeframe.

4. Detail

4.1. Welfare Reform Update: Subsequent to the Committee’s meeting on 
11 September 2018 [Min. No. 21:5 refers], the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) and the Benefit Manager have proposed a further 
deferment of this Item to June 2019 to enable a better assessment of 
the effects of the roll-out of full Universal Credit throughout Dartford. 

4.2. Presentation by Virgin Care: As advised to Members by the Strategic 
Director (External Services) on 11 September 2018 [Min. No. 26 refers] 
it has been agreed that Virgin Care will make a presentation to the 
Committee in March 2019 to complement the updates due from 
representatives of the D&G NHS Trust and the DGS CCG at that 
meeting. 

4.3. Relate Medway & North Kent (M&NK): As advised to the Committee 
on 11 September [Min. No. 26 refers] a further invitation has been sent 
to the Chairman of Relate (M&NK) to attend POC on 11 December 
2018 to advise Members of Relate’s operation in Dartford. A response 
remains outstanding at the time of publication of this report.

4.4. Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust and Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group: As first requested by the 
Committee on 20 March 2018, it is confirmed that representatives from 
the Trust and the CCG will update Members on future health service 
provision for the Borough in March 2019.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
11 DECEMBER 2018

4.5. Consideration of the following additional areas, which were put forward 
at the Committee meeting held on 13 June 2017, have yet to be 
scheduled:

 Channel shift policy
 Communication and engagement strategy
 Business Advice website

4.6. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 
Work Plan.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Rolling Work Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

David Hook
(01322) 343276

Democratic Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW ROLLING WORK PLAN

December  2018 March 2019 June 2019 September 2019

RELATE Medway & North 
Kent Presentation from Virgin Care Welfare Reform Update Air Quality Annual Status 

Report 2019

Kent Public Health – 
presentation from KCC 
Director 

Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust Update

Policy Overview Committee 
Annual Report 2018/2019

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects - Annual Report 
2017/2018 

Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
Update

Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring

Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 11 September 2018
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	Plan

	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 11 September 2018
	10 Dartford Preventative Health Projects - Annual Report 2017/18
	Item 10 App. A - Policy Overview committe report 2017-18
	Item 10 Appendix B Evidence  Case Studies_

	11 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, Quarter 2 of 2018/19 Municipal Year
	APPENDIX A - Corporate Plan Key Actions Report (Q2 - 2018-19)
	APPENDIX B - Corporate Plan Performance Indicators (Q2 - 2018-19)

	12 Policy Overview Committee Work Plan
	Work Plan APPENDIX A FINAL


